RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON May 08, 2015, 10:49 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 91665-9 RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPOKANE COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, HARLEY C. DOUGLASS, INC.

Respondent,

v.

EASTERN WASHINGTON GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD, a statutory entity, FIVE MILE PRAIRIE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION, AND FUTUREWISE, a Washington Non-Profit Organization,

Appellants,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dan Catt
Sr. Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #11606
Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney
1115 West Broadway, 2nd Floor
Spokane, Washington 99260
Telephone: (509) 477-4509

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The County of Spokane, a political subdivision of the State of Washington, the Respondent before the Court of Appeals below (hereinafter referred to as "Spokane County" or "Petitioner"), brings this Petition for Review to the Supreme Court. Spokane County is also the Respondent in both the action before the Growth Management Hearings Board and before the Superior Court.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision of the Court of Appeals for which review is sought is Court of Appeals, Division III, case number 31941-5-III, which decision was filed by the Court of Appeals on April 9, 2015. (A copy of the Court of Appeals decision accompanies this Petition as Appendix A). The decision of the Court of Appeals is the result of review by the Court of Appeals of a Final Decision and Order of the Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board regarding case number 12-1-0002, dated August 23, 2012. (A copy of the Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, Final Decision and Order, Case No. 12-1-0002 accompanies this Petition as Appendix B).

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

The issues presented for review by this Court are:

- 1. Whether RCW 36.70A.3201 requires the Growth Management Hearings Board and Courts of Appeal to defer to local jurisdictions in how they plan under a comprehensive plan that is consistent with the requirements and goals of the Growth Management Act?
- 2. Whether a rezone that is adopted concurrently with a comprehensive plan amendment that authorizes the rezone, and is thus a development regulation, is subject to the local jurisdiction's zoning code?
- 3. Whether RCW 36.70A.280 authorizes the Growth Management Hearings Board's consideration of an allegation that a site specific rezone violates the local jurisdiction's zoning code?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The decision of the Court of Appeals from which this Petition for Review is taken stems from an action of Spokane County in a property owner requested site-specific rezone of his property from Low Density Residential Zoning to Medium Density Residential zoning. Appendix C, p. 2. To accomplish the requested rezone of the property, the Spokane County Comprehensive Plan Map first needed to be amended to allow the requested change in zoning. Appendix C, p.2.

The requested site specific comprehensive plan amendment was considered along with several other proposed comprehensive plan amendments during the annual amendment process conducted by Spokane County and the amendment was adopted as requested. Appendix C, p. 4; Appendix D, p.6. Along with the comprehensive plan amendment, and during the amendment process, Spokane County also considered the requested rezone of the property as requested by its owner, and the rezone was adopted immediately following the adoption of the comprehensive plan amendment and was published in the same ordinance by which the comprehensive plan amendment was adopted. Appendix C, p. 4; Appendix D, p.6.

The adoption of the comprehensive plan and the rezone were challenged before the Growth Management Hearings Board pursuant to RCW 36.70A.280. The Petition for Review before the Growth Management Hearings Board cited only alleged inconsistencies between the amendment and rezone and the policies of the Spokane County Comprehensive Plan. The only alleged violation of the Growth Management Act (GMA) was that the amendment to the comprehensive plan map caused the comprehensive plan to be internally inconsistent. Appendix E, pp. 21 - 38. Allegations were also made that the site-specific rezone was not compliant with the Spokane County Zoning Code.

The Growth Management Hearings Board found that the amendment and the rezone were non-compliant with the GMA and with the Spokane County Zoning Code. Appendix B. The Spokane County Superior Court reversed the decision of the Growth Management Hearings Board and the Court of Appeals reversed in part and upheld in part the Growth Management Hearings Board decision. Appendix A. This matter now comes to this Court on a Petition for Review.

V. ARGUMENT

- A. THE OPINION OF DIVISION III OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT AND OTHER COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS.
- 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Ignores the GMA Requirement that Local Jurisdictions be Given Broad Deference For Planning Actions that are Consistent With the GMA.

In Quadrant Corporation v. Growth Management Hearings Board, 154 Wn.2d 224, 237 – 238, 110 P.3d 1132 (2005), this Court recognized that "[i]n 1997 the legislature took the unusual additional step of enacting into law its statement of intent in amending RCW 36.70A.320 to accord counties and cities planning under the GMA additional deference." The Quadrant decision goes on to state:

In the face of clear legislative directive, we now hold that deference to county planning actions, that are consistent with the goals and requirements of the GMA, supersedes

deference granted by the APA and courts to administrative bodies in general. (*Id.* at 238; emphasis added)

The fatal error in the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, challenged by this petition for review, is that the Court of Appeals ignores the very heart of the required deference. The clear legislative directive referred to by this Court in *Quadrant* is found in RCW 36.70A.3201; "... the legislature intends for the board to grant deference to counties and cites in how they plan for growth, *consistent with the requirements and goals of this chapter*." (Emphasis added) It is consistency with the requirements and goals of the Growth Management Act (GMA), Title 36, Chapter 70A, of the Revised Code of Washington, that the grant or denial of deference under RCW 36.70A.3201 is based, and only upon the consistency with the requirements and goals of the GMA. RCW 36.70A.3201 (Attached as Appendix I); *Quadrant Corporation v. Growth Management Hearings Board*, supra.

In conflict with the clear legislative directive referred to in *Quadrant*, the Court of Appeals' decision demands strict consistency with the policies of the Spokane County Comprehensive Plan rather than the requirements and goals of the GMA. Appendix A, pp. 34 – 52. The Court of Appeals decision does not refer to any requirement or goal of the GMA with which the adoption of 11-CPA-05 by Spokane County is inconsistent.

Appendix A. Likewise the Growth Management Hearings Board's Final Decision and Order does not cite inconsistency of 11-CPA-05 with any requirement or goal of the GMA. Appendix B. Appellants Five Mile Prairie Neighborhood Association and Futurewise's only claim of inconsistency with the GMA^1 is that, in their opinion, 11-CPA-05 is inconsistent with the policies of the Spokane County Comprehensive Plan thus the comprehensive plan is internally inconsistent. Appendix E, pp. 21 – 38.

To ignore the directive that deference must be given for actions that are consistent with the requirements and goals of the GMA is in conflict with Quadrant Corporation v. Growth Management Hearings Board, supra; Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, 173 Wn. App. 310, 293 P.3d 1248 (2013); Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, 176 Wn. App. 555, 309 P.3d 673 (2013); among many other cases that follow the legislature's directive.

This challenged decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with its decision in *Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board*, 173 Wn. App. 310, 293 P.3d 1248 (2013) regarding the alleged lack of compliance with Spokane County Comprehensive Plan

¹ RCW 36.70A.070.

Policy UL.2.16, accessibility to a major arterial. At 173 Wn. App. 333, the Court of Appeals opines that "if a map amendment meaningfully advances other comprehensive plan goals and policies, a finding by the growth board that it fails to advance another – if it fails to advance, for example, a goal of encouraging high density residential development on sites having good access to a major arterial – that alone cannot be an invalidating inconsistency". In contrast, the Court of Appeals opinion in this case determines that inconsistency with Policy UL.2.16 by its self is sufficient to support a finding of non-compliance with the GMA. Appendix A, pp. 34 – 52, 58 – 63.

If the Court of Appeals' decision is allowed to stand it would at best cause confusion regarding the application of the mandate in RCW 36.70A.3201, and at worst be seen as diminishing the legislature's directive and this Court's decision in *Quadrant* that the Growth Management Hearings Board is to give broad discretion to planning decisions that are consistent with a GMA compliant comprehensive plan. Spokane County respectfully requests review by this Court for clarification regarding the meaning and application of RCW 36.70A.3201 and the family of cases relying upon it.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Demands that a Comprehensive Plan Amendment/Development Regulation Comply with the Zoning Code.

In Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, 176 Wn. App. 555, 309 P.3d 673 (2013), the Court of Appeals states that, if a site-specific rezone implements a comprehensive plan amendment that is adopted concurrently with the rezone, the rezone is an amendment to a development regulation under the GMA and is therefore reviewable by the Growth Management Hearings Board. 176 Wn. App. 555, 571 – 572. This same rule is stated in Kittitas County v. Kittitas County Conservation Coalition, 176 Wn. App. 38, 52, 308 P.3d 745 (2013) and again in the decision challenged by this petition.

In conflict with its opinion that a rezone adopted concurrently with the comprehensive plan map amendment that authorizes the rezone is reviewable by the Growth Management Hearings Board for compliance with the GMA, the Court of Appeals then opines that the Growth Management Hearings Board correctly considered whether the rezone was compliant with Spokane County Zoning Code 14.402.040. Spokane County Zoning Code 14.402.040 addresses when a rezone is appropriate independent of a comprehensive plan amendment. See Court of Appeals, Division III, Unpublished Opinion 31941-5-III, at pages 52 – 57. Notwithstanding its opinion that the Growth Management Hearings Board

had jurisdiction to consider compliance with the zoning code, just one page later the Court of Appeals opines that the Growth Management Hearings Board probably lacked jurisdiction over the challenge to the rezone under Spokane County Zoning Code 14.402.040. This latter opinion is most likely based upon well established law found in *Quadrant Corporation v. Growth Management Hearings Board*, supra, and *Wenatchee Sportsman Association v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn.2d 169, 178 – 183, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). See also RCW 36.70C.030 and *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007). Development regulations, such as zoning codes, directly constrain site-specific land use decisions, which decisions are subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the superior court for review. *Woods v. Kittitas County*, at 613 – 614.

If a rezone adopted concurrently with a comprehensive plan amendment is a development regulation, then it is subject to the jurisdiction of the Growth Management Hearings Board solely for a determination of compliance with the requirements and goals of the GMA, the rezone is not subject to review for compliance with the zoning code. RCW 36.70A.280; *Woods v. Kittitas County*, at 613 – 614. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with well established law and causes confusion regarding the interaction between the GMA and LUPA.

Spokane County respectfully requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision on all issues raised in this petition.

- B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS HIGHLIGHTS ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THE SUPREME COURT.
- 1. The Deference Mandated by RCW 36.70A.3201 is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The decision of the of the Court of Appeals in this matter and in the decision of Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, 173 Wn. App. 310, 293 P.3d 1248 (2013) (Headwaters case) highlight the need for clarification of the deference to be given to local jurisdictions in planning under the GMA when challenged before the Growth Management Hearings Board. Both of those cases involve Spokane County's adoption of a comprehensive plan map amendment accompanied by a concurrent rezone of a specific parcel of property.

In both cases the owners of the respective properties requested that Spokane County rezone their property from Low Density Residential zoning to a higher density residential zone. Appendix C, pp. 2-4; Appendix F, p.1. A rezone of either of the properties required first that a comprehensive plan map amendment be adopted relative to the respective properties. Appendix C, pp. 2-4; Appendix F, p.1. Both properties are

within the UGA established by Spokane County, with public utilities and services at the property. Appendix D, p. 1. Each of the properties is unique in its location relative to the surrounding parcels, topography, and limitations upon development as other than residential properties. Appendix C, p. 2 – 4; Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, 173 Wn. App. 310, 332 – 333. In the Headwaters case several of the issues raised before the Growth Management Hearings Board were the same or similar to the issues raised in the matter in this petition; the issues alleged Spokane County's failure to comply with policies of the Spokane County Comprehensive Plan as those policies were interpreted by the opponents to the amendment and rezone. Appendix B; 173 Wn. App. 310.

The issue, framed by the two decisions cited above, needing clarification from this Court is specifically at what point in the planning process is the deference required by RCW 36.70A.3201 intended to apply? It seems clear from the statute and from decisions of this Court that, when a local jurisdiction is planning within the requirements and goals of the GMA the jurisdiction has broad discretion to balance the local circumstances to develop a unique plan that addresses the local circumstances. The question remains, as is the case in this matter and the *Headwaters* case, if there are no allegations of non-compliance with a

specific requirement of the GMA and the local jurisdiction is applying its own comprehensive plan policies to a specific and unique property, does the Growth Management Hearings Board have authority to substitute its own judgment for that of the local jurisdiction in evaluating the challenged planning action?

Although the clear language of the GMA and of the numerous decisions of this Court and the Courts of Appeal appear to prohibit the Growth Management Hearings Board from substituting its judgment for that of the local jurisdiction in matters of applying GMA compliant comprehensive plan policies to specific properties, based upon unique local circumstances, that is exactly what the Growth Management Hearings Board does repeatedly. Guidance from this Court is necessary.

Spokane County respectfully requests that petition for review of this matter be granted.

2. The Court of Appeals Decision Creates Confusion Over When a Site Specific Rezone is Reviewable by the Growth Management Hearings Board and When it is Reviewable by the Superior Court.

This Court's decisions in *Wenatchee Sportsman Association v*.

Chelan County, 141 Wn.2d 169, 178 – 183, 4 P.3d 123 (2000) and *Woods*v. Kittitas County, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007) appear to make clear what is meant by the term "site specific rezone" and that a site

specific rezone is solely reviewable by the superior court under the jurisdiction of the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA).

In Wenatchee Sportsman this Court opines that a site-specific rezone that is authorized by a comprehensive plan is a "project permit application" that Growth Management Hearings Board lacks jurisdiction to review. 141 Wn.2d 179 – 180. The Woods v. Kittitas County decision draws a distinction between a site specific rezone, one that is requested by the property owner, and an area-wide rezone affecting more than a single parcel, which is a legislative act and presumably initiated by the local jurisdiction's governing body. Woods v. Kittitas, supra at 610 – 615. Woods v. Kittitas unequivocally states that a site specific rezone is not only a project permit application but is also not subject to review for compliance with the GMA; a site specific rezone is reviewable exclusively by the superior court under the LUPA. Id.

In contrast to what appears to be a clear statement of the law, Division III of the Court of Appeals has decided several cases that attempt to distinguish the *Wenatchee Sportsman Association* and *Woods* cases and appear to draw a different conclusion than does this Court regarding site specific rezones.

The first decision in the line of cases leading to the confusion complained of by Spokane County is Coffey v. City of Walla Walla, 145

Wn. App. 435, 187 P.3d 272 (2008), recognizes that it is not uncommon for those hoping to develop property to seek both a comprehensive plan amendment and a rezone of property in the same proceeding. 145 Wn. App. 437 – 438. The Court of Appeals goes on to opine that "[a]nyone seeking to challenge both aspects of a ruling granting both requests would by statute have to appeal to two entities: the GMHB for the comprehensive plan amendment and superior court for the rezone. While the two-front appeal process could be burdensome, we can imagine that trial courts would be inclined to stay proceedings pending the Board's determination of the comprehensive plan challenge". *Id.* The Court's decision in *Coffey* appears to follow the instruction from *Wenatchee Sportsman Association* and *Woods*.

In the cases of Spokane County v. Eastern Washington Growth Management Hearings Board, 176 Wn. App. 555, 309 P.3d 673 (2013) and Kittitas County v. Kittitas County Conservation, 176 Wn. App. 38, 52, 308 P.3d 745 (2013) the Court of Appeals states that a site specific rezone adopted concurrently or immediately following a comprehensive plan amendment is a development regulation subject to the GMA, unless the rezone is "authorized by a then existing comprehensive plan" (emphasis added). Now in the decision in this current case, Court of Appeals, Division III, Case Number 31941-5-III, at 52 – 58, the Court opines that

notwithstanding the jurisdiction of the Growth Management Hearings Board to review the comprehensive plan amendment and the concurrent rezone as a development regulation, the Hearings Board is also authorized to review the rezone for compliance with the Spokane County Zoning Code. The relationship between the GMA and LUPA however is not parallel but is hierarchical, thus the Growth Management Hearings Board has no jurisdiction to determine whether a rezone that is a development regulation is in compliance with the zoning code, a development regulation its self. *Woods v. Kittitas*, supra at 615 – 616.

Clarification regarding to what tribunal a review of a site specific rezone action is to be taken, and the scope of the review by the Growth Management Hearings Board, when review there is appropriate, is a matter of substantial interest to all jurisdictions that plan under the GMA.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals opinion in this case diminishes if not overturns the directive of RCW 36.70A.3201 and that of the case of *Quadrant Corporation v. Growth Management Hearings Board*, 154 Wn.2d 224, 110 P.3d 1132 (2005), that local jurisdictions must be given broad deference in how they plan within requirements and goals of the GMA. The decision will condone the Growth Management Hearings Boards substitution of its own judgment for that of the local jurisdictions regarding the interpretation

of the local comprehensive plan policies and planning for unique local circumstances.

Regarding the issue of whether a site-specific rezone is a development regulation subject to review by the Growth Management Hearings Board or is a project permit application subject to review by the Superior Court, this decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in Wenatchee Sportsman Association v. Chelan County, 141 Wn.2d 169, 4 P.3d 123 (2000) and Woods v. Kittitas County, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007) by inserting language that this Court chose not to include.

Finally, the decision goes beyond the language of the GMA and decisions of this Court by condoning the Growth Management Hearings Board's review of a site-specific rezone, and considering the rezone's compliance with the zoning code.

The Court of Appeals opinion in this case conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals itself. The decision also points out the need for clarification from the Supreme Court regarding application and construction of the Growth Management Act. Spokane County respectfully requests that the Court accept review of this case on the grounds discussed above.