RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 05, 2015, 11:09 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Case No. 91665-9

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPOKANE COUNTY,

Appellant,

v.

EASTERN WASHINGTON GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD, FIVE MILE PRAIRIE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION, and FUTUREWISE,

Respondents,

and

HARLEY C. DOUGLASS, INC.,

Appellant.

FIVE MILE PRAIRIE NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION'S & FUTUREWISE'S ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

Tim Trohimovich, WSBA No. 22367 Futurewise 816 Second Ave., Suite 200 Seattle, Washington, 98104 Telephone: 206-343-0681 Ext. 118 tim@futurewise.org Attorney for the Five Mile Prairie Neighborhood Association & Futurewise

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The *Spokane County* decision does not conflict with the other decisions of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals

Spokane County argues that the court of appeals decision in this

case conflicts with the *Quadrant Corp*. decision because the Court of

Appeals "decision does not refer to any requirement or goal of the

[Growth Management Act] GMA with which the adoption of 11-CPA-05

by Spokane County is inconsistent."¹³ But the Court of Appeals found

¹⁰ CR 000192, Michael C. Dempsey, Spokane County Hearing Examiner, RE: Application for the Preliminary Plat of Redstone, in the Low Density Residential (LDR) Zone, Applicant: Whipple Consulting Engineers File No. PN-1974-06 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision p. 7 (March 30, 2007).

¹¹ CR 000222, Spokane County Staff Report Comprehensive Plan Annual Amendment Review File No.: 11-CPA-05 p. 5 of 9.

¹² CR 000239, Ex G Whipple Consulting Engineers, Inc. letter to the Spokane County Planning Commission p. 1 (Sept. 14, 2011).

¹³ Spokane County Petition for Review p. 5; *Quadrant Corp. v. State Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 154 Wn. 2d 224, 238, 110 P.3d 1132, 1139 (2005).

amendment 11-CPA-05 violated RCW 36.70A.070, RCW

36.70A.040(3)(d), RCW 36.70A.040(4)(d), and RCW 36.70A.040(5)(d).¹⁴

The court also correctly noted that "[t]here need not be strict adherence,

but any proposed land use decision must generally conform to the

comprehensive plan. Citizens for Mount Vernon, 133 Wn.2d at 873;

Barrie v. Kitsap County, 93 Wn.2d 843, 849, 613 P.2d 1148 (1980).

Ultimately, the comprehensive plan and any amendment to it must obey

the GMA's clear mandates. Spokane County II, 176 Wn. App. at 575

[2013]."15 The County also claims the Board did not find any GMA

violations again showing a lack of deference to the County.¹⁶ However, the

Board's Final Decision and Order found violations of RCW 36.70A.070,

RCW 36.70A.120, and RCW 36.70A.130.¹⁷ So this argument fails.

The County, on pages 6 and 7 of its Petition for Review, argues this decision is inconsistent with another court of appeals decision involving Spokane County.¹⁸ In 2013 *Spokane County* decision the court

¹⁴ Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., No. 31941-5-III Slip Op. pp. 35 – 36, 2015 WL 1609138, at *17 – 18 (Apr. 9, 2015).

¹⁵ Id. at 36, 2015 WL 1609138, at *18

¹⁶ Spokane County Petition for Review p. 6.

 ¹⁷ CR 001019, CR 001022 – 24, CR 001029 – 30, *Five Mile Prairie Neighborhood Association & Futurewise v. Spokane County*, GMHB Case No. 12-1-0002, Final Decision and Order (Aug. 23, 2012), at 10, 13 – 15, and 20 – 21 of 26. Hereinafter FDO.
 ¹⁸ Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 173 Wn. App. 310, 332 – 33, 293 P.3d 1248, 1259 – 60 (2013).

of appeals addressed one of the policies at issue in this case,

comprehensive plan policy UL.2.16, and concluded in part that

if a map amendment meaningfully advances other comprehensive plan goals and policies, a finding by the growth board that it fails to advance another—if it fails to advance, for example, a goal of encouraging high density residential development on sites having good access to a major arterial—that alone cannot be an invalidating inconsistency. The weighing of competing goals and policies is a fundamental planning responsibility of the local government.¹⁹

In this case, the court of appeals quoted the 2013 Spokane County

decision and explained the different outcome in this case:

Based on this passage in Spokane County I [the 2013] decision], we would defer to any reasonable weighing of the goals and policies conducted by the Spokane County Board of Commissioners. While the Board of Commissioners declared amendment 11-CPA-05 consistent with the goals of the GMA, the Board of Commissioners never provided any reasoning behind this declaration. More importantly, the Board of Commissioners never recognized the rezone's inconsistency with comprehensive plan amendment UL.2.16 or the violation of SCZC section 14.402.040. Thus, the Board of Commissioners never weighed whether countervailing goals and policies of the GMA trump the clash with GMA goals and polices resulting from inconsistencies with comprehensive plan policy UL.2.16 or the violation of SCZC section 14,402.040.20

¹⁹ Spokane County (2013), 173 Wn. App. at 333, 293 P.3d at 1259 - 60.

²⁰ Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., No. 31941-5-III Slip Op.

p. 62, 2015 WL 1609138, at *30 (Apr. 9, 2015).

So there is no conflict between 2013 *Spokane County* decision and the decision in this case. Again, Spokane County's argument fails.

B. The court of appeals did not err in finding noncompliance with Spokane County Zoning Code 14.402.040

Spokane County did not argue that Spokane County Zoning Code (SCZC) 14.402.040 did not apply to amendment 11-CPA-05 before the Board or the Court of Appeals.²¹ RCW 34.05.554(1) provides in part that issues not raised before the Board may not be raised on appeal with certain exceptions that do not apply here. So the County cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal before the Supreme Court.

Instead, Spokane County argued that the amendment complied

with SCZC 14.402.040.²² Both the Board and the Court of Appeals

carefully analyzed these arguments and concluded that amendment,

including it zoning amendment, did not comply with SCZC 14.402.040.23

C. Spokane County was granted the deference it was due

Two of the key innovations of the GMA were the requirement for

internal consistency and consistency between comprehensive plans and

²¹ CR 000324, Spokane County Prehearing Brief in Response to Petitioner's Prehearing Brief p. 27 of 34; CR 001027 – 30, FDO at 18 – 21; *Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, No. 31941-5-III Slip Op. p. 58, 2015 WL 1609138, at *28 (Apr. 9, 2015).

²² CR 000324, Spokane County Prehearing Brief in Response to Petitioner's Prehearing Brief p. 27 of 34.

²³ CR 001027 – 30, FDO at 18 – 21; Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., No. 31941-5-III Slip Op. pp. 52 – 58, 2015 WL 1609138, at *25 – 28 (Apr. 9, 2015).

development regulations.²⁴ In this case, Spokane County violated both of these provisions.²⁵

Pages 11 and 12 of Spokane County's Petition for Review strikes at the heart of these requirements. Spokane County writes the "question remains, as is the case in this matter and the *Headwaters* case [the 2013 decision the Court of Appels referred to as *Spokane County I* in the decision in this case], if there are no allegations of non-compliance with a specific requirement of the GMA and the local jurisdiction is applying its own comprehensive plan policies to a specific and unique property, does the Growth Management Hearings Board have the authority to substitute its own judgment for that of the local jurisdiction in evaluating the challenged planning action?

There are two problems with this question. The first is that the requirements for a consistent comprehensive plan and consistency between the comprehensive plan and the development regulations are specific GMA requirements.²⁶ To underline the point that the legislature and the governor intended local governments to comply with their

²⁴ RCW 36.70A.040; RCW 36.70A.070.

²⁵ Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., No. 31941-5-III Slip Op. pp. 35 – 36, 2015 WL 1609138, at *17 – 18 (Apr. 9, 2015).

²⁶ RCW 36.70A.040; Town of Woodway v. Snohomish Cnty., 180 Wn. 2d 165, 173, 322
P.3d 1219, 1223 (2014); RCW 36.70A.070; Brinnon Grp. v. Jefferson Cnty., 159 Wn.
App. 446, 476 - 77, 245 P.3d 789, 804 (2011).

comprehensive plans they also adopted RCW 36.70A.120 which provides in full that "[e]ach county and city that is required or chooses to plan under RCW 36.70A.040 shall perform its activities and make capital budget decisions in conformity with its comprehensive plan." In short, Spokane County's activities must conform to its comprehensive plan.

The second problem, as the Court of Appeals properly concluded, in this case Spokane County "never weighed whether countervailing goals and policies of the GMA trump the clash with GMA goals and polices resulting from inconsistencies with comprehensive plan policy UL.2.16 or the violation of SCZC section 14.402.040."²⁷ As to the decision on amendment 11-CPA-05 there is just no there there. Spokane County is not asking for deference to reasoned planning decisions, it is asking for a free pass. This the GMA in RCW 36.70A.040, RCW 36.70A.070, RCW 36.70A.120, and RCW 36.70A.130 does not allow.

D. The Board and Court correctly concluded that the Growth Management Hearings Board had jurisdiction to review the rezone in this case and this decision is consistent with this Court's *Wenatchee Sportsman* and *Woods* decisions

The Board correctly determined that the Medium Density Residential rezone that was part of amendment 11-CPA-05 was not "a site-specific rezone authorized by a comprehensive plan" and therefore the

²⁷ Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., No. 31941-5-III Slip Op. p. 62, 2015 WL 1609138, at *30 (Apr. 9, 2015).

Board had jurisdiction to review the rezone.²⁸ The court of appeals correctly upheld this decision.²⁹ The Washington State Supreme Court has held that:

The primary goal of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the legislature's intent and purpose. *Am. Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Steen*, 151 Wn.2d 512, 518, 91 P.3d 864 (2004); *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). This is done by considering the statute as a whole, giving effect to all that the legislature has said, and by using related statutes to help identify the legislative intent embodied in the provision in question. *Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d at 11, 43 P.3d 4.³⁰

RCW 36.70A.280(1) provides in relevant part that the Board "shall

hear and determine only those petitions alleging ... that, except as

provided otherwise by this subsection, a state agency, county, or city

planning under this chapter is not in compliance with the requirements of

this chapter, chapter 90.58 RCW as it relates to the adoption of shoreline

master programs or amendments thereto, or chapter 43.21C RCW as it

relates to plans, development regulations, or amendments, adopted under

²⁸ CR 001017, FDO at 8 of 26.

 ²⁹ Spokane Cnty. v. E. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., No. 31941-5-III Slip Op. pp. 30 – 34, 2015 WL 1609138, at *15-17 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 9, 2015).
 ³⁰ Department of Labor and Industries v. Gongyin, 154 Wn.2d 38, 44 – 45, 109 P.3d 816,

³⁰ Department of Labor and Industries v. Gongvin, 154 Wn.2d 38, 44 – 45, 109 P.3d 816, 819 (2005).

RCW 36.70A.040 or chapter 90.58 RCW." Spokane County plans under

RCW 36.70A.040.³¹

RCW 36.70A.030(7) defines development regulations as:

(7) "Development regulations" or "regulation" means the controls placed on development or land use activities by a county or city, including, but not limited to, zoning ordinances, critical areas ordinances, shoreline master programs, official controls, planned unit development ordinances, subdivision ordinances, and binding site plan ordinances together with any amendments thereto. A development regulation does not include a decision to approve a project permit application, as defined in RCW 36.70B.020, even though the decision may be expressed in a resolution or ordinance of the legislative body of the county or city.

RCW 36.70B.020(4) defines a project permit, emphasis added, as:

(4) "Project permit" or "project permit application" means any land use or environmental permit or license required from a local government for a project action, including but not limited to building permits, subdivisions, binding site plans, planned unit developments, conditional uses, shoreline substantial development permits, site plan review, permits or approvals required by critical area ordinances, site-specific rezones authorized by a comprehensive plan or subarea plan, but excluding the adoption or amendment of a comprehensive plan, subarea plan, or development regulations except as otherwise specifically included in this subsection.

Reading these three sections together, we see that the Board has

jurisdiction over amendments to development regulations, including

³¹ Henderson v. Spokane County (McGlades), EWGMHB Case No. 08-1-0002, First Order Finding Non-Compliance (May 7, 2009), at 13, 2009 WL 1716739, at *7.

zoning ordinances. However, if the site-specific rezone is "authorized by a comprehensive plan or subarea plan," then the Board does not have jurisdiction over the rezone. The last phrase of RCW 36.70B.020(4) excludes from the definition of "project permits" "the adoption or amendment of a comprehensive plan, subarea plan, or development regulations except as otherwise specifically included in this subsection." Only one type of amendment to a comprehensive plan or a development regulation is specifically included in RCW 36.70B.020(4), "site-specific rezones authorized by a comprehensive plan or subarea plan" If the site-specific rezone is not authorized by a comprehensive plan or subarea plan, it is not defined as a project permit by RCW 36.70B.020(4).

The legislature limited the definition of project permits to sitespecific rezones authorized by a comprehensive plan or subarea plan for a very important policy reason. The GMA, in RCW 36.70A.130(1)(d), provides in relevant part that "[a]ny amendment of or revision to development regulations shall be consistent with and implement the comprehensive plan." Neither the Local Government Permitting Act, chapter 36.70B RCW, or the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA, chapter 36.70C RCW) include this requirement. To ensure that rezones comply with the comprehensive plan, the legislature only defined rezones authorized by the comprehensive plan as project permits in RCW

12

36.70B.020(4). This can be seen in the Supreme Court's Woods v. Kittitas

County decision.

¶ 27 A site-specific rezone authorized by a comprehensive plan is treated as a project permit subject to the provisions of chapter 36.70B RCW. RCW 36.70B.020(4). In reviewing a proposed land use project, a local government must determine whether the proposed project is consistent "with applicable development regulation, or in the absence of applicable regulations the adopted comprehensive plan." RCW 36.70B.030(1). While standards are explicitly provided for making the determination of whether a proposed project is consistent with the development regulations, or, in their absence, the comprehensive plan, there is no explicit requirement that the project permit be consistent with the GMA. See RCW 36.70B.030, .040. Instead, the land use planning choices reflected in the comprehensive plan and regulations "serve as the foundation for project review." RCW 36.70B.030(1).³²

The Board and Court of Appeals' interpretation is consistent with

Supreme Court case law. In *Woods v. Kittitas County* the Washington State Supreme Court wrote that "[a] <u>site-specific rezone authorized by a</u> <u>comprehensive plan is treated as a project permit</u> subject to the provisions of chapter 36.70B RCW. RCW 36.70B.020(4)."³³ On page 13, the Spokane County Petition for Review claims that *Woods* stands for the proposition that site-specific rezones are reviewed under LUPA, but the County omits mention of the Supreme Court's language that the rezone

³² Woods v. Kittitas County, 162 Wn.2d 597, 613, 174 P.3d 25, 33 (2007).

³³ Woods v. Kittitas County, 162 Wn.2d 597, 613, 174 P.3d 25, 33 (2007) emphasis added. In fact, the Supreme Court wrote it twice; see also Woods, 162 Wn.2d at 612 fn.7, 174 P.3d at 32 fn.7.

must be authorized by a comprehensive plan to be a project permit. The

Wenatchee Sportsmen Association v. Chelan County decision is also

consistent with this interpretation. As the Washington State Supreme

Court wrote:

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